SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA; J.R. REDDISH, Individually, Petitioners,))))
vs. CHARLES W. SMITH and EMMA L.	CASE NO.#63,950)
SMITH, his wife, Respondents.))

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

RICHARD L. RANDLE, ESQ. Slater & Randle, P. A. Suite 920, Atlantic Bank Bldg. Jacksonville, Fla. 32202 (904) 354-2401 and 355-9565

Attorneys for Petitioners.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For the sake of brevity, the Petitioners herein will be referred to hereafter as "Petitioners", "Department of Corrections" and/or "Reddish"; and the Respondents will be referred to as "Respondents" or "Smith".

Reference to Petitioners' Appendix will be by "App.", followed by an appropriate page number(s), in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondents filed a Complaint on April 10, 1980 in the Circuit Court, Duval County, Florida (App.128), listing not only the Petitioners herein, but also Louis L. Wainwright, individually and as Secretary of the Department of Corrections, State of Florida; James Wainwright, individually and as Superintendent of Lawtey Correctional Institute; and C. L. Sewell, individually and as Transfer Authority at Union Correctional Institute.

That prior to the filing of the Complaint on April 10, 1980, the Circuit Court in and for Duval County, Florida, had dismissed an action by Respondents against the parties referred to above (App.12), said Court having allowed the Respondents (Smith) a period of time in which to amend the complaint. No further action was taken by the Respondents (Smith) and the Circuit Court in and for Duval County, Florida ordered

the Clerk of the Court to close the file for failure to comply with the Court's Order (App. 119).

To the Complaint filed April 10, 1980, a Motion to Dismiss was filed (App. 120) and thereafter the Complaint was dismissed by the Circuit Court, in and for Duval County, Florida (App. 118).

On November 19, 1980, Respondents (Smith) filed an Amended Complaint (App. 106), and that Amended Complaint listed the present Petitioners only, i.e. Department of Corrections of the State of Florida, and J. R. Reddish, individually. To that Amended Complaint was filed a Motion to Dismiss (App. 98).

Said Amended Complaint was transferred to Leon County, Florida, by Order of the Circuit Court, in and for Duval County, Florida (App. 95).

By Order dated August 25, 1981, the Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint was considered to be a motion to abate and transfer, and the Amended Complaint was held in abeyance and transferred to the Circuit Court of Union County, Florida (App. 94).

On the 26th day of October, 1981 Respondents' (Smith) Amended Complaint was dismissed for its <u>failure to state a cause of action in</u>

<u>its entirety</u> (underscoring supplied), with leave to file a second amended complaint within 20 days from October 26, 1981 (App. 93).

Respondents filed (on March 10, 1982) a Second Amended Complaint (App. 88) which is <u>basically the same complaint</u> but with the exception that the Second Amended Complaint failed to include the paragraph stating that "The defendant, Department of Corrections, has written rules and regula-

tions governing the classification of inmates and the inmates between and within institutions..." (App.108; Paragraph 19.); and failed to allege "That Louis Wainwright, in and was at all times complained of herein, the duly appointed Secretary of the said Department of Corrections and as such, is responsible for the acts of the employees and agents of the said Department of Corrections." (App.107; Paragraph 5.); fails to reallege that "C. L. Sewell, on or about August 26, 1977, was an agent and/or employee of the said Department of Corrections." (App. 107; Paragraph 8.); and failed to reallege Paragraph 24. of the Amended Complaint wherein "...C. L. Sewell had the authority to authorize the transfer of Prince and other inmates from U.C.I. to other institutions (App.108; Paragraph 24.)

To said Second Amended Complaint a Motion to Dismiss was directed and filed on November 24, 1981, setting forth the fact of the dismissal and closing of the file on the original complaint (App. 81).

The Circuit Court, in and for Union County, Florida, entered its Order of Dismissal With Prejudice on the Second Amended Complaint on the 11th day of March, 1982 (filed March 15, 1982), (App.79), on the grounds that the Second Amended Complaint failed to state a cause of action and that the Respondents (Smith) elected not to further amend said second amended complaint, the Court further stating that the transfer of inmate Prince had taken place months and years prior to Smith's alleged injury, and holding that such actions of Petitioners qualify as discretionary functions and are, therefore, immune from tort liability; and further,

that the <u>allegations</u> of Smiths' Second Amended Complaint that the transfer occurred months and years prior to Smith's alleged injury and that it was not reasonably foreseeable that the transfer would result in an escape from the State penal system and thereafter result in the escaped prisoner being involved in a robbery (months after his escape) in which Smith was injured (App. 79).

Respondents took an appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, of the State of Florida (Case No. #AL-39), and the First District Court of Appeal did, on an Opinion filed April 27, 1983 (App. 22) reverse the trial court; an Opinion being written by Judge Mills and a Specially Concurring Opinion written by Judge Ervin, and a Dissenting Opinion by Judge Thompson. Both Judge Mills' Opinion and Judge Ervin's Opinion cite conflict between these Opinions and the Second District Court of Appeal and its Opinions.

A Motion for Rehearing and for Clarification En Banc was filed by the Petitioners (Appellees below)(App. 06). On Opinion filed June 17, 1983, Judge Mills amended his Opinion (App. 03), but otherwise denied said Motion for Rehearing and for Clarification En Banc, but did certify the following question as being of great public importance:

"May prisoner classifications ever give rise to tort liability, and, if so, under what circumstances?" (App.04)

The First District Court of Appeal denied all requests for oral argument (App. 32 and App. 05), and said case was never orally argued before the First District Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, is a department (agency) of the State of Florida and operates the prison system for the State of Florida.

Petitioner, J. R. REDDISH, was an Assistant Superintendent of the Union Correctional Institute, more commonly referred to as "U.C.I.", located in Union County, Florida (App. 88).

The Second Amended Complaint alleges that in February of 1973,

Franklin Delano Prince (hereinafter referred to as "Prince") was convicted of violating the law of the State of Florida and confined within the Department of Corrections of the State of Florida (App. 89).

The Second Amended Complaint alleges that on or about May 21, 1976 that Prince was reclassified from medium custody status to minimum custody status (NOTE: there was no allegation of any rule or regulation nor any law or Statute of the State of Florida being violated in said classification).

Thereafter, the Second Amended Complaint alleges that prior to

August 5, 1977, Reddish requested C. L. Sewell, Transfer Authority, to

transfer Prince to Lawtey Correctional Institute and that Superintendent

J. T. Wainwright was requested to accept Prince at the Lawtey Correctional Institute; and that pursuant to that request, and we state in

accordance with the laws of the State of Florida and the Rules and

Regulations of the Department of Corrections (there being no allegation

in the Second Amended Complaint of <u>any</u> violation of any Rule or Regulation of the Department of Corrections or the law of the State of Florida) (App. 90), Prince was transferred to Lawtey Correctional Institute on October 26, 1977, in the <u>same classification</u> that he had had at Union Correctional Institute since May of 1976, to-wit: minimum custody status.

That after being transferred in 1977 to Lawtey Correctional Institute, in the same classification that he had been classified in May of 1976, i.e. minimum custody inmate, in March of 1978, as alleged in the Second Amended Complaint, Prince escaped from Lawtey Correctional Institute (App. 90).

The Second Amended Complaint alleges that in June of 1978 (approximately three months after escaping from Lawtey Correctional Institute), the Respondent, Charles W. Smith, was injured allegedly by the escaped inmate Prince.

ISSUES

Ι

The question certified by the First District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance is as follows: (App. 04)

MAY PRISONER CLASSIFICATIONS EVER GIVE RISE TO TORT LIABILITY, AND, IF SO, UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES?

It is respectfully submitted that the certified question could have been certified as follows and be of equally great public importance:

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS CAN BY THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' DULY CONSTITUTED AUTHORITY AND IN ACCORD WITH ITS RULES AND REGULATIONS CLASSIFY PRISONERS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS AND SUCH CLASSIFICATION WILL BE A DISCRETIONARY, JUDGMENTAL, PLANNINGLEVEL FUNCTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS?

II

THE APPELLATE COURT FAILED TO FOLLOW THE LAW OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AS ANNOUNCED BY THIS COURT (SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA) AND SAID OPINION IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

III

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN NOT FOLLOWING THE LAW OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AS SET FORTH BY THE SUPREME COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA WHEN IT HELD THAT VIOLENCE TO THIRD PARTIES WAS A FORESEEABLE CONSEQUENCE OF PLACING PRINCE IN MIMIMUM CUSTODY (IN MAY OF 1976).

ARGUMENT

Ι

The question certified by the First District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance is as follows:

MAY PRISONER CLASSIFICATIONS EVER GIVE RISE TO TORT LIABILITY, AND, IF SO, UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES? (App. 04)

The certified question could have been certified as follows and be of equally great public importance:

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS CAN BY THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' DULY CONSTITUTED AUTHORITY AND IN ACCORD WITH ITS RULES AND REGULATIONS CLASSIFY PRISONERS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS AND SUCH CLASSIFICATION WILL BE A DISCRETIONARY, JUDGMENTAL, PLANNINGLEVEL FUNCTION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS?

It is respectfully submitted that this Issue is simply one of whether or not the prison authority, i.e. the Department of Corrections, when it classifies a prisoner, is exercising a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function. The question certified by the First District Court of Appeal seems to admit, and certainly implies, that they are conceding that a classification of a prisoner by the Department of Corrections is a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function, but then the Court wishes this Court to engage in conjecture and surmise as to what factual situations could be thought of wherein such discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function could thereafter give rise to tort liability.

It is respectfully submitted and argued that there is absolutely nothing in Respondents' Second Amended Complaint that would give rise to

tort liability when the classification of the inmate Prince was a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function of the Department of Corrections. There has been no allegation that any statute has been violated or not followed. There has been no allegation that there has been any rule or regulation that has been violated or not followed in Respondents' Second Amended Complaint. Truly this Court would have to engage in surmise, conjecture, and dream up factual situations not any way alleged in Respondents' Second Amended Complaint in an attempt to come up with any "tort liability" against Reddish or the Department of Corrections of the State of Florida.

As pointed out by the Hon. Wayne Carlisle when he dismissed the Amended Complaint for its total failure to state a cause of action in any respect whatsoever and his remarks to counsel at that time, "if you have some violation of a rule or regulation or a Statute of the State of Florida, put it in your Complaint and then it can be ruled on." It is respectfully submitted that there is not one shread of fact or otherwise alleged in Respondents' Second Amended Complaint of anything wherein Reddish or the Department of Corrections violated a rule or regulation or law or statute of the State of Florida.

There appears to be absolutely no question that the classification of a prisoner by the appropriate authority of the Department of Corrections is a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function of the Department of Corrections. This Court's decision in <u>Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River Cty.</u>, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. Sup. Ct. 1979), makes this abundantly clear and the tests set forth by this Court are answered in the affirmative without question.

This Court, Supreme Court of Florida, in its recent decision of Harrison v. Escambia County School Board, Case No.#62,629, dated July 7, 1983, held that the Plaintiffs' Complaint therein failed to state a cause of action on the grounds that the action alleged (the decision of where to locate a school bus stop) was a discretionary, planning-level decision and, therefore, immune from tort liability.

This Court, in its Opinion, said:

"In its thoughtful and well-reasoned majority opinion the district court discussed the allegations in the amended complaint and concluded that the 'gravamen of the complaint is that the county negligently decided to locate the school bus stop on one street rather than another, and negligently failed to post warning signs.' 419 So.2d at 642-43. Using the four-part test recommended by Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), the district court held that selecting locations for school bus stops is a planning decision protected under the discretionary governmental function exception to section 768.28, Florida Statutes (1977). In reaching its conclusion the district court relied on the planning level/ operational level analysis in Johnson v. State, 69 Cal.2d 782, 73 Cal.Rptr. 240, 447 P.2d 352 (1968), which this Court adopted in Commercial Carrier. Applying the Johnson analysis, the court stated:

'It appears to us that to require the school board to decide on school bus stop locations under the threat of tort liability in the event a judge or jury at some later date might determine that the chosen location constituted a safety hazard to an individual child injured enroute to it, would present some difficulties. It is obvious that some potential for injury to a child would exist at any location where motor vehicle traffic exists, yet it would be totally impracticable and indeed impossible to locate a bus stop at any place where this would not be true.' "

"419 So.2d at 644. The district court concluded that 'sufficient justification exists for a holding that the school board's function in selecting school bus stop sites is not one that should 'be subject to scrutiny by judge or jury as to the widsom of their performance.' <u>Id</u>. at 645, <u>quoting Commercial Carrier</u>, 371 So.2d at 1022." (Harrison Opinion - pages 3. and 4.)

In the <u>Harrison</u>, supra, case this Court was also confronted with a statute and the violation thereof, in addition to whether or not there had been sufficient allegations in the amended complaint to allege the existence of a <u>known</u> trap or dangerous condition which would create an operational-level duty to post warnings. There is no such problem of violation of a statute etc., or of posting warnings in the instant case and it is abundantly clear that there is a complete failure to allege, sufficiently or otherwise in any way, a cause of action against Reddish or the Department of Corrections.

This Court went on to say:

"As noted by the district court, it would be impossible to locate a school bus stop at any place which would not have some potential danger for some student. Some locations may be more dangerous than others, however, and it is to those locations that section 234.112 is directed. The decision as to where to locate bus stops necessarily requires the utilization of governmental planning and discretion.

We also hold that Harrison's amended complaint fails to allege the creation of a dangerous condition or trap which would necessitate giving notice of the danger, as needed under City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982), and Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982), in order to circumvent the school board's immunity." (Harrison Opinion -- page -6-) (underscoring supplied)

And further:

"Under Collom, therefore, a plaintiff would have to allege specifically the existence of an operational level duty to warn the public of a known dangerous condition which, created by it and being not readily apparent, constitutes a trap for the unwary. Neilson also requires the pleading of a known trap or known dangerous condition. Collom and Neilson require specific allegations of fact instead of generalities. Harrison's amended complaint did not meet this burden. The complaint merely alleges 'unusual traffic hazards' and is insufficient to state a cause of action under Collom or Neilson.

"We hold that the designation of school bus stops is a planning level decision which is immune from tort liability under the doctrine of sovereign immunity and that Harrison's amended complaint failed to allege sufficiently the existence of a known trap or dangerous condition which would create an operational level duty to post warnings. We approve the district court's affirming of the trial court ruling.

"It is so ordered."
(Harrison Opinion -- pages 6. and 7.)

Following the reasoning, logic and opinion of this Court (Supreme Court) in the above-cited <u>Harrison</u>, supra, case, it is abundantly clear what the Honorable Wayne Carlisle meant when he dismissed the Amended Complaint for <u>its total failure to state a cause of action in any respect</u> whatsoever.

What we have is a simple issue of the Department of Corrections

(prison authority) under the police power of the State, classifying a

person in an appropriate and proper manner, there being no allegations

to the contrary, and exercising a discretionary, judgmental, planning
level function. There were no allegations in Respondents' Second Amended

Complaint that there was or has been any violation of any rule or regulation,

statute or law of the State of Florida relative to the classification of the inmate Prince. As this Court said in <u>Harrison</u>, supra, that amended complaint fails to create an obligation or duty in order to circumvent the School Board's immunity and that the amended complaint required pleading to that extent and required specific allegations of fact instead of generalities and that Harrison's amended complaint did not meet this burden and that the complaint was insufficient to state a cause of action.

It is even more abundantly true in the case now before this Court (The Supreme Court) when there is a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function of the Department of Corrections, with absolutely no allegations of fact or ultimate fact, or otherwise, to state a cause of action and if any language is used in Respondents' Second Amended Complaint in an attempt to state such a cause of action, it is only in terms of vague generalities and mere conclusions insufficient to state any cause of action under the Supreme Court's decision in City of St. Petersburg v.

Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982), and Department of Transportation v.

Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982), and Harrison, supra.

Certainly the language which this Court (Supreme Court) cites from the Second District Court of Appeal is even more applicable to this case. To paraphrase the language, it appears to us that to require the Department of Corrections to classify each prisoner under the threat of tort liability in the event a judge or jury at some later date might deem that such classification might constitute a hazard to some individual injured in the State of Florida, would present difficulties. It is

obvious that some potential for injury to a citizen of the State of Florida might exist with any classification of a prisoner, yet it would be totally impractical and indeed impossible to classify every prisoner in every circumstance where this would not be true. And again, to paraphrase, sufficient justification exists for a holding that the Department of Corrections' function in classification of prisoners is not one that should be subject to scrutiny by judge and jury as to the wisdom of their performance, as contained in Commercial Carrier, supra.

It is respectfully submitted that any other conclusion by this

Court would produce and leave the prison system and authority, Department of Corrections, in the State of Florida in a state of total inability
to function and to plan, use their judgment and discretion as they are
required to do under the laws of the State of Florida.

Truly the exercise of police power of the State is a pure governmental function which has historically enjoyed immunity from tort liability. To hold otherwise would paralyze law enforcement agencies including the Florida penal system and the Department of Corrections. Laws are passed but the government cannot guarantee or insure that these laws will not be broken and individuals injured when these laws and regulations are broken. Truly to hold other than the classification of inmates is a discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function of the Department of Corrections and must be preserved as such, or it would require the building of countless more prison facilities and the hiring of enormous numbers of guards and still there could be no guarantee and the government could not be an insurer of every citizen's safety in the State of Florida.

Again, this discretionary, judgmental, planning-level function and the preservation of immunity must be preserved and not changed.

In Neumann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc., et al., Case No.#811742, 2nd DCA of Florida, May 13, 1983, the Second District Court of
Appeal discusses the doctrine of sovereign immunity in the State of
Florida and then discusses F.S. 768.28 and the terms "governmental
activity--discretionary and nondiscretionary, or operational and planning
level" function. The Court went on to say:

"Whether controlled by sovereign immunity or its waiver, and regardless of the labels we use, the result is the same: certain essential, fundamental activities of government must remain immune from tort liability so that our government can govern. See: Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071, 1075 (Fla. 198]). We perceive the pure exercise of the police power to be the clearest illustration of where to allow tort liability would strike at the very foundation of the power to govern." (Neumann Opinion - page -5-)

The Second District Court of Appeal then discusses this Court's Commercial Carrier, supra, decision and Johnson v. State, 69 Cal.2d 782, 73 Cal. Rptr. 240, 447 P.2d 352 (1968) cited therein, and further discusses City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982) and Department of Transportation v. Kennedy, No. 82-125 (Fla. 2d DCA Feb. 25, 1982), and then states as follows:

"The most important factor to consider is that by imposing rules and regulations and deciding when and where or what to inspect, DER is exercising the police power of the state, a pure governmental function which historically has enjoyed immunity from tort liability. See, e.g., Wong v. City of Miami, 237 So.2d 132 (Fla. 1970); Hernandez v. City of Miami, 305 So.2d 277 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974)."

"If we were to hold DER liable here we would, by analogy, be requiring a law enforcement officer to be posted on every street corner. Any time a crime or other violation of law resulted in injury to person or property, a judge or jury would have to second guess the reasonableness or adequacy of the police action. Our legislature enacts traffic and penal laws, but law enforcement agencies cannot guarantee that these laws will be obeyed. Government cannot become the insurer of those injured when its laws and regulations are broken or safety measures it imposes are ignored by others."

"The decision of the trial court is AFFIRMED."
(Neumann Opinion -- page -7-)(underscoring supplied)

We realize that the cited <u>Neumann</u>, supra, case is a Second District Court of Appeal Opinion, however, the law recited therein is the law of the State of Florida as announced by this Court (Supreme Court) and the citations contained therein are, for the most part, Supreme Court decisions. But, in any event, the Opinion might well have been written by the Supreme Court and is the law of the State of Florida.

We will refer to the <u>Neumann</u>, supra, case in our argument under conflict of the case now on appeal being contrary to the decisions of the Supreme Court and of other District Courts of Appeal in this Brief.

The <u>Neumann</u>, supra, case cites this Court's (Supreme Court) Opinion in <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, supra, and the <u>Johnson</u> case cited therein and, of course, we have previously discussed the discretion allowed in the <u>Johnson</u> case. The Second District Court of Appeal, in the <u>Neumann</u>, supra, case said:

"The <u>Johnson</u> court further noted that a workable definition of 'discretionary' must recognize that much of what is done by government employees must remain beyond the range of judicial inquiry."

(Neumann Opinion -- page -6-)

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