THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SEP on 1003

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA; J.J. REDDISH, individually,

Appellees/Petitioners,

CLERIA SUCAL DALE SOURT

٧.

CASE NO. 63,950

CHARLES W. SMITH and EDNA L. SMITH, his wife,

Appellants/Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

VICKERS & ROHAN P.A. 437 East Monroe Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-7300 Attorneys for the appellant

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

ARGUMENT

Under the circumstances of this case the classification of prisoners should give rise to Tort Liability.

It should be emphasized at the outset what is not the issue here before the Court. The issue is not whether this Court should rule to charge the traditional governmental immunity of prison authorities ability to exercise its police power and its discretionary, judgmental and planning level functions. The issue here is as was certified by the First District Court of Appeals as being of great public importance:

"May prisoner classifications ever give rise to tort liability, and, if so, under what circumstances."

The Florida Supreme Court in the landmark decision Commercial Carrier Corporation v. Indian River City, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979) redefined the scope of the waiver of sovereign immunity as it applies to Florida under Section 768.28, Florida Statute (1979). In setting standards for the Florida courts to follow in determining which governmental functions or activities have sovereign immunity, the Court embraced an analysis employed by the California Supreme Court in the case of Johnson v. State, 447 Pacific 2d 352 (Calif. 1968) which distinguished between decisions made at the "planning level" and those at the "operational level".

The Johnson case involved a situation where the California Youth Authority placed a sixteen year old with known homicidal tendencies and a background of violence in a foster home without notice of those dangerous propensities to the foster parents. After the youth attacked and injured one of the foster parents, the foster parent sued the state for negligence. The state claimed that the action was discretionary and thus, under California law, was immune. The California Supreme Court held that while almost any official act involved some degree of discretion, in order to result in immunity, the act must involve a basic policy decision or planning level decision. It therefore

held that the decision not to tell the foster parents of the dangerous propensities of the youth was a ministerial action at the operational level and not subject to immunity. Under the **Johnson** analysis, there must have been an actual policy decision consciously balancing the danger of the risks involved against the advantages to be gained as to policy objectives in order for the immunity to attach. Further, the **Johnson** court stated that the principle that although a basic policy decision (such as standards for parole) may be discretinary and hence warrant governmental immunity, subsequent ministerial actions in the implimentation of that basic decision must face case by case adjudication on the question of negligence.

To hold that the actions of Reddish in the case at bar were discretionary flies in the face of the holding in **Johnson** as adopted by the Florida Supreme court in **Commercial Carrier.** The decision to return Prince to a minimum security facility was not made pursuant to established standards and thus, a basic policy decision, but in fact, as alleged, was a result of favoritism toward Prince by Reddish who had made Prince a house boy while under his jurisdiction. The claim that in returning this murderer-armed robber back to a minimum security facility after he had already escaped once from a minimum security facility, the state was consciously balancing the danger of the risks involved against the advantages to be gained as to the policy ogjectives is impossible to accept.

In addition to the standards set forth by the California Supreme Court in **Johnson**, the Florida Supreme Court in **Commercial Carrier** also adopted a four pronged preliminary test set forth by the Washington Supreme Court in **Evangelical United Bretheran Church v. State**, 407 P 2d 440 (Wash. 1965):

- "1. Does a challenged act, ommission or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program or objective?
- 2. Is the questioned act, ommission or decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of that policy, program or objective as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy program or objective?
- 3. Does the act, ommission or decision require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved?
- 4. Does the governmental agency involved possess the requisite constitutional, statutory, or lawful authority and duty to do or make the challenged act, ommission or decision?"

371 So.2d 1010, 1019

It was stated by the Washington Court and the Florida Supreme Court that if these preliminary questions can be clearly and unequivocally answered in the affirmative, than the challenged act, ommission or decision can, with a reasonable degree of assurance be classified as a discretionary governmental process and nontortious regardless of its unwisdom. If, however, one or more of the questions call for, or suggests a negative answer, then further inquiry may well become necessary depending upon the facts and circumstances involved. Applying the above test to the situation at bar, it becomes apparent that questions 1 and 4 can be answered in the affirmative. The decision to classify or reclassify a person incarcerated in the penal system does involve a basic governmental program of rehabilitation. In addition, it is within the Department's lawful authority to reclassify a prisoner as to the degree of security under which he However, questions 2 and 3 should not be answered in the affirmative. The decision to reclassify Prince individually would not be essential to the realization or accomplishment of that program of rehabilitation and indeed, the decision not to do so, would not change the course or direction of that program. As to question 3, the decision to reclassify Prince could have and should have involved evaluation judgment

and expertise on the part of Reddish, but in fact, did not as it was tainted by the fact that Reddish had used Prince as a personal houseboy.

Consistent with Commercial Carrier and its progeny, it is not argued that the Department of Corrections plan or criteria for prisoner reclassification should be subject to the scrutiny of judges or juries. It is vital to the prison system in Florida for the Department to have a plan or policy of reclassification of prisoners and to have soveriegn immunity from tort liability from injuries caused pursuant to the policy making or planning stage. In a situation in which a prisoner was reclassified through the normal channels, pursuant to a DOT plan of reclassification there could be no question that the Department would have immunity just because injury results. Respondent argues that while there is a valid policy reason for retaining sovereign immunity for such plans, that whenever a prisoner is reclassified outside of the normal channels and specifically due to favoritism or negligence on the part of prison personnel, that the operational decision to reclassify a prisoner no longer retains the policy reasons for retaining sovereign immunity and thus the negligence of making that decision should be subject to tort liability.

A point from Commerical Carrier reaffirmed in Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1982) is that while the decision of where and why to build a road is a planning level function, the failure to properly maintain an existing road may be the basis of a suit against a governmental entity. Similarly, while the decision to implement a plan of reclassifying prisoners is a planning level function, the failure to follow such a plan which results in injury should be the basis of a suit against the governmental entity. Here, as in the traffic cases, the decision whether to take a classification system is a planning stage; however, as in the traffic cases, the operation of the system, in effect, the maintenance of the system is at the operational, and when a wrong is done and an injury results, the state and officials should not be able to shirk that liability by use of sovereign immunity.

The Court has recently dealt with the issue of sovereign immunity from tort liability in a trilogy of cases; Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982); Ingham v. Department of Transportation, 419 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1982); and City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982). In these 4-3 split decisions (Neilson and Ingham were split 4-3 while Collom was unanimous, however three of the justices concurred in the result only) the Court further attempted to define the boundaries boundaries of sovereign immunity from tort liability. In Neilson, Justice Overton reitterated the law as set out in Commercial Carrier.

"Commercial Carrier established that discretionary, judgmental, planning level decisions were immune from suit, but that operational level decisions were not so immune."

Neilson, 419 So.2d at 1075. While the majority of the Court in Neilson found that by applying these principles to the facts of that case, sovereign immunity was not waived, the present case lends itself much moreso to the reasoning of Justice Sundberg in his dissenting opinion. It was noted that Florida Statute 768. 28 evinces the intent of our legislature to waive sovereign immunity on a broad basis though certain "discretionary" government functions remain immune from tort liability. Further, that under Commercial Carrier, a finding of immunity should be the exception rather than the rule. Justice Sundberg further reasoned that not all discretionary governmental functions were immune but only planning level functions requiring basic policy decisions.

It was further reasoned, that in any such analysis the governmental agency must additionally demonstrate that a "considered" decision was undertaken. This goes to the heart of the matter in the present case. Under the facts as alleged there was not a "considered" decision as to change the classification of Prince, but such change was a result of favoritism. Lastly, Justice Sundberg cites Bellevance v. State, 390 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) cert. denied, 399 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1981). Bellevance involved a situation where a patient who was involuntarily committed to a state mental hospital and was negligently released from the hospital by the state before he was sufficiently

treated and cured, subsequently injured the plaintiff. The District Court of Appeals held that the act of the state in releasing the patient did not rise to the level of "basic policy decisions" falling within the area for which sovereign immunity remained. The Court further held that the state did not show that the personnel involved, after consciously balancing risks and advantages, made a considered decision in releasing the patient.

While the facts of **Bellevance** and the present case are not identical, they are sufficiently close that the same line of reasoning may be applied in both cases. In both cases, a person who was confined against his will and for the protection of society was negligently allowed to re-enter society and subsequently caused harm to members of society. Similarly, in both cases there was an absence of a conscious balance of the risks and advantages in changing the status of the confined person.

CONCLUSION

Thus in conclusion, this is not a case in which sovereign immunity as redefined by this Court in Commercial Carrier is threatened; rather this is a case in which those guidelines are to be applied. The government should be allowed to govern and the Department of Corrections should be allowed to operate. However, both must do so within the boundaries as set out by the Legislature and this Court; very few governmental actions cannot somehow be traced back to some planning level decision; however, the granting of sovereign immunity is to be the exception, not the rule, thus it should be construed narrowly.

For the reasons stated herein, the Respondent prays that this Honorable Court will uphold the First District Court of Appeals decision.

KEN VICKERS, P.A.

Kenneth Vickers

437 East Monroe Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202

(904) 356-7300

Attorneys for Appellants